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Explanatory Note
 
On January 8, 2020, MTBC, Inc. (the “Company” or “MTBC”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) a Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Original Form
8-K”) to disclose that the Company had acquired CareCloud Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“CareCloud”). This Amendment No. 1 (this “Amendment”) to the Original
Form 8-K is being filed by the Company for the purpose of amending and supplementing Item 9.01 of the Original Form 8-K to include the audited financial statements of
CareCloud and the pro forma financial information required by Items 9.01(a) and (b) of Form 8-K and should be read in conjunction with the Original Form 8-K. No other
changes are made to the Original Form 8-K by this Amendment.
 
Section 9 ― Financial Statements and Exhibits
 
Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits

 
 (a) Financial statements of businesses acquired
   
  The audited financial statements of CareCloud are filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 8-K and incorporated by reference herein.
   
 (b) Pro forma financial information
   
  Pro forma financial information with respect to the acquisitions of CareCloud and Etransmedia Technology, Inc. (“ETM”) is filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Form

8-K and incorporated by reference herein.
   
 (c) Exhibits

 
No.  Description
   
23.1  Consent of Wojeski & Company CPAs, P.C.
   
99.1  Annual financial statements of CareCloud.
   
99.2  Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information with respect to the acquisitions of CareCloud and ETM.
   
99.3  Supplemental information.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto
duly authorized.

 
 MTBC, Inc.
 (Registrant)
          
 By: /s/ Stephen A. Snyder
  Stephen A. Snyder
  Chief Executive Officer

 
Date: March 20, 2020
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Exhibit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We have issued our report dated March 20, 2020, with respect to the financial statements of CareCloud Corporation for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, included
in this Form 8-K of MTBC, Inc. We consent to the incorporation by reference of said report in the Registration Statement of MTBC, Inc. on Forms S-8 (File Nos. 333-226685,
333-217317 and 333-203228) and on Form S-3 (File No. 333-232493).
 
/s/ Wojeski & Company CPAs, P.C.  
  
Albany, New York  
March 20, 2020  
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 Independent Auditor’s Report
 
To the Board of Directors of
CareCloud Corporation
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of CareCloud Corporation, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related
statements of loss, common and preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
 
Auditor’s Responsibility
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
 
Opinion
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of CareCloud Corporation as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Subsequent Event
 
As discussed in Note 20 to the financial statements, on January 8, 2020 the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with MTBC, Inc., MTBC Merger Sub, Inc.
(“Merger Sub”) and Runway Growth Credit Fund, Inc., pursuant to which Merger Sub merged with and into CareCloud, with CareCloud surviving as a wholly owned
subsidiary of the MTBC, Inc. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter.

 
/s/ Wojeski & Company CPAs, P.C.

 
Albany, New York
March 20, 2020
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 CareCloud Corporation
 

Balance Sheets
 

CareCloud Corporation
 

As of December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Assets         
Current Assets         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 807,648  $ 8,793,805 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,001,060 and $1,050,885 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively   2,928,358   2,389,050 
Contract asset   1,012,550   - 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,320,714   651,138 

         
Total current assets   6,069,270   11,833,993 
         
Long term prepaid expenses and other assets   539,560   122,800 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,930,353   - 
Property and equipment, net   374,333   533,413 
Software development costs, net   7,471,617   6,518,012 
         
Total assets  $ 17,385,133  $ 19,008,218 
         
Liabilities, Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit         
         
Current Liabilities         

Accounts payable  $ 6,942,710  $ 3,549,215 
Accrued expenses   2,387,786   2,170,209 
Operating lease liability   749,378   - 
Deferred revenue   269,250   879,674 
Loans payable, net of debt discount   7,079,655   26,887,012 

         
Total current liabilities   17,428,779   33,486,110 
         
Long term liabilities         

Deferred revenue   -   2,144,816 
Loans payable, net of current portion and debt discount   24,707,691   31,100,944 
Operating lease liability   2,084,599   - 
Other liabilities   -   1,157,895 

         
Total liabilities  $ 44,221,069  $ 67,889,765 
 

The remainder of this page intentionally left blank.
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CareCloud Corporation
 

Balance Sheets (continued)
 
As of December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 18)         
         
Preferred stock         
         
Series A convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 12,371,467 shares authorized and 7,250,388 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018  $ -  $ 11,850,687 
         
Series B convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 10,048,655 shares authorized and 8,820,113 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018   -   26,622,588 
         
Series B-1 convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 6,745,765 shares authorized and 3,976,719 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018   -   12,390,747 
         
Series C convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 23,310,390 shares authorized and 19,503,114 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2018   -   23,095,903 
         
Series C-NV Convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 6,231,823 shares authorized and 4,176,448 shares issued
and outstanding at December 31, 2018   -   5,026,355 
         
Series A-1 convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 40,081,778 shares authorized 3,552 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2019   38,195,817     
         
Series A-1 NV convertible preferred stock $0.0001 par value; 2,048,148 shares authorized 205 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2019   491,340     
         
Stockholders’ deficit         
Common stock $0.0001 par value; 125,000,000 shares authorized, 25,881,447 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2018   -   2,801 
Class A common stock $0.0001 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized and 809,703 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2019   81   - 
Class B common stock $0.0001 par value; 2,071,431 shares authorized and 23,283 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2019   2   - 
Additional paid-in capital   105,338,982   26,308,282 
Accumulated deficit   (170,862,158)   (154,178,910)
         
Total preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit   (26,835,936)   (48,881,547)
         
Total liabilities, preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit  $ 17,385,133  $ 19,008,218 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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 CareCloud Corporation
 

Statements of Loss
 

For the years ended December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Net revenue         

Subscription revenue  $ 31,886,432  $ 29,193,211 
Professional services and other revenue   1,467,241   1,134,844 

         
Total net revenue   33,353,673   30,328,055 
         
Operating expenses         

Cost of revenue   21,169,181   20,765,774 
Research and development   13,733,126   12,493,847 
Selling and marketing   6,781,504   9,894,397 
General and administrative   6,500,680   6,043,289 
Depreciation and amortization   3,208,197   2,950,905 

         
Total operating expenses   51,392,688   52,148,212 
         
Operating loss   (18,039,015)   (21,820,157)
         
Interest expense   (4,211,874)   (4,641,577)
Other income   557,801   216,211 
         
Loss before income taxes   (21,693,088)   (26,245,523)
Income tax provision   (15,528)   (13,573)
         
Net loss  $ (21,708,616)  $ (26,259,096)
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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 CareCloud Corporation
 

Statements of Common and Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
 

  Convertible Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Common Series

A Stock   
Common Series

B Stock   Additional     Total  

  Shares   
Carrying

Value   Shares   
Carrying

Value   Shares   
Carrying

Value   Shares   
Carrying

Value   
Paid-In
Capital   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Stockholders’
Deficit  

Balance, January 1, 2018   45,547,728  $ 82,274,568   23,334,948  $ 2,469   -  $ -   -  $ -  $ 22,767,732  $ (127,919,814)  $ (22,875,045)
Stock options exercised during the year ended December 31,
2018   -   -   86,057   86   -   -   -   -   17,736   -   17,822 
Retirement of Series A convertible preferred stock   (8,467,530)   (13,840,093)   9,332,476   933   -   -   -   -   13,839,160   -   - 
Retirement of Series B convertible preferred stock   (8,914,565)   (26,908,580)   11,719,112   1,172   -   -   -   -   26,907,408   -   - 
Retirement of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock   (4,187,765)   (13,049,708)   13,673,932   1,367   -   -   -   -   13,048,341   -   - 
Retirement of Series C convertible preferred stock   (19,801,420)   (23,449,832)   20,293,775   2,029   -   -   -   -   23,447,803   -   - 
Retirement of Series C-NV convertible preferred stock   (4,176,448)   (5,026,355)   4,280,298   428   -   -   -   -   5,025,927   -   - 
Reissuance of Series A convertible preferred stock   7,250,388   11,850,687   (7,991,012)   (799)   -   -   -   -   (11,849,888)   -   - 
Reissuance of Series B convertible preferred stock   8,820,113   26,622,588   (11,594,946)   (1,159)   -   -   -   -   (26,621,429)   -   - 
Reissuance of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock   3,976,719   12,390,748   (12,984,830)   (1,298)   -   -   -   -   (12,389,450)   -   - 
Reissuance of Series C convertible preferred stock, net of
offering costs   19,503,114   23,095,902   (19,988,065)   (1,999)   -   -   -   -   (23,093,903)   -   - 
Reissuance of Series C-NV convertible preferred stock, net of
offering costs   4,176,448   5,026,355   (4,280,298)   (428)   -   -   -   -   (5,025,927)   -   - 
Stock-based compensation expense   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   234,772   -   234,772 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (26,259,096)   (26,259,096)

                                             
Balance, December 31, 2018 before adoption of ASC 606   43,726,782  $ 78,986,280   25,881,447  $ 2,801   -  $ -   -  $ -  $ 26,308,282  $ (154,178,910)  $ (48,881,547)

Cumulative effect of adopting ASC 606   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   5,025,368   5,025,368 
Balance, January 1, 2019 after adoption of ASC 606   43,726,782  $ 78,986,280   25,881,447  $ 2,801   -  $ -   -  $ -  $ 26,308,282  $ (149,153,542)  $ (43,856,179)

Stock options exercised during the year ended December 31,
2019   -   -   -   -   4,733   -   -   -   41,702   -   41,702 
Conversion of Series A convertible preferred stock   (7,250,388)   (11,850,687)   -   -   79,909   8   -   -   11,850,679   -   - 
Conversion of Series B convertible preferred stock   (8,820,113)   (26,622,588)   -   -   115,945   12   -   -   26,622,576   -   - 
Conversion of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock   (3,976,719)   (12,390,747)   -   -   129,845   13   -   -   12,390,734   -   - 
Conversion of Series C convertible preferred stock   (19,503,114)   (23,095,903)   -   -   178,810   18   -   -   23,095,885   -   - 
Conversion of Series C-NV convertible preferred stock   (4,176,448)   (5,026,355)   -   -   -   -   23,283   2   5,026,353   -   - 
Conversion of common stock   -   -   (25,881,447)   (2,801)   300,461   30   -   -   2,771   -   - 
Issuance of Series A-1 convertible preferred stock   3,552   38,195,817   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   38,195,817 
Issuance of Series A-1 NV convertible preferred stock   205   491,340   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   491,340 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   -   (21,708,616)   (21,708,616)

                                             
Balance, December 31, 2019   3,757  $ 38,687,157   -  $ -   809,703  $ 81   23,283  $ 2  $ 105,338,982  $ (170,862,158)  $ (26,835,936)

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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 CareCloud Corporation
 

Statements of Cash Flows
 
For the years ended December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Cash flows used in operating activities         

Net loss  $ (21,708,616)  $ (26,259,096)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in         

operating activities:         
Amortization of sales commissions   1,916,026   - 
Depreciation and amortization   3,208,197   2,950,905 
Amortization of debt discount   256,908   588,031 
Stock-based compensation expense   -   234,772 
Fair value adjustment   (573,229)   (206,814)
Lease amortization   825,866   - 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets   44,921   - 
PIK interest on loan   371,497   132,168 

Change in assets and liabilities:         
Accounts receivable   (539,308)   (558,061)
Contract asset   (1,012,550)   - 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (696,777)   74,233 
Accounts payable   2,414,603   598,250 
Accrued expenses   217,577   113,305 
Accrued interest   -   1,258,750 
Deferred revenue   (35,458)   459,391 

         
Net cash used in operating activities   (15,310,343)   (20,614,166)
         
Cash flows from investing activities         

Purchase of property and equipment   (181,525)   (244,876)
Capitalized software development costs   (3,866,119)   (4,279,308)

         
Net cash used in investing activities   (4,047,644)   (4,524,184)
         
Cash flows from financing activities         

Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of debt discount   99,569   36,751,010 
Repayment of debt

  (73,184)   (12,906,493)
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock   11,303,743   - 
Payment on capital lease obligations   -   (24,995)
Proceeds from stock options exercised   41,702   17,822 

         
Net cash provided by financing activities   11,371,830   23,837,344 
         
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (7,986,157)   (1,301,006)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   8,793,805   10,094,811 
         
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 807,648  $ 8,793,805 
         
Supplemental information – Cash paid during the year for:         
Interest paid  $ 3,602,648  $ 2,563,370 
Income taxes  $ 16,242  $ 3,420 
         
Supplemental disclosure of noncash financing activities:         
Retirement of convertible debt in exchange for Series A-1 and 
Series A-1 NV convertible preferred shares  $ 27,383,414  $ - 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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 CareCloud Corporation
 

Notes to Financial Statements
 
1. Organization and Business
 
Nature of Business
 
CareCloud Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated in the State of Florida on January 5, 2009. On September 19, 2011, the Company was reincorporated in the State of
Delaware under the name CareCloud Corporation. The Company serves customers in the healthcare industry, providing cloud-based medical practice management and clinical
solutions, as well as revenue cycle management services.
 
On January 8, 2020, the Company merged with MTBC Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation, with the Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of MTBC, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (See Note 20).
 
2. Liquidation and Going Concern
 
FASB Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) Topic 205-40, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern, requires that management evaluate whether there are
relevant conditions and events that, in the aggregate, raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern and to meet its obligations as they become
due within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued.
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments to account for the Company’s inability to continue as a going concern. The Company was acquired effective January 8,
2020, and accordingly, the doubts about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern were alleviated.
 
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates used in preparing these financial statements include the income tax provision,
capitalized software development costs, valuation of stock awards, estimating lease terms and incremental borrowing rates, revenue recognition and the allowance for doubtful
accounts. Actual results could differ from those estimates, and such differences could be material to the financial position and results of operations.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recognized revenue when there is evidence of an arrangement, the service has been provided to the customer, the
collection of the fees is reasonably assured, and the amount of fees to be paid by the customer are fixed or determinable. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted Accounting
Standards Codification, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” (“ASC 606”). As a result, financial information for reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019
is presented in accordance with ASC 606. This adoption is discussed in Recent Accounting Pronouncements below.
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CareCloud Corporation
 

Notes to Financial Statements
 
The Company primarily derives its revenues from RCM, SaaS solutions and professional services that it offers customers: CareCloud Central (“Central”), CareCloud Charts
(“Charts”), CareCloud Concierge (“Concierge”) and CareCloud Breeze (“Breeze”).
 
Central is a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) solution in the form of a full-featured medical practice management system. Central customers manage their practice, file
reimbursement claims, post payments and track receivables/denials through the CareCloud system.
 
Charts is a SaaS solution in the form of a cloud-based electronic health record (EHR). Charts allows physicians to document clinical encounters with patients electronically,
including ordering labs, medications, and other items that are part of the visit, while also managing related office workflow. The Company provides implementation services
and ongoing support, but does not perform back-office services for Central and Charts customers.
 
If Central and Charts are purchased together by the customer, the bundled product is called Complete.
 
Concierge is a full-service revenue cycle management offering. Concierge provides customers with the same full-featured medical practice management system as Central, plus
revenue cycle management services include claims submission and collections.
 
Breeze is a software-as-a-service solution enabling a streamlined patient management workflow, including using tablets to capture patient intake, take patient payments,
schedule appointments and other features, which is integrated into Central and Charts.
 
The Company also provides a variety of other services for its customers including, but not limited to, training, implementation, data conversion and data migration
(“Professional Services”), as well as ongoing support.
 
Subscription Fees
 
Under the Company’s SaaS solution, the Company derives revenue by charging the customer a periodic recurring fee for use of its hosted proprietary service, generally based
on a fixed fee per healthcare provider billed monthly in advance. The Company recognizes the recurring fee as revenue on a monthly basis as the fees are billed. The typical
customer contract duration is two years and is renewed automatically. Cancellation generally requires three months’ notice.
 
Under the Company’s Concierge solution, the Company derives revenue primarily from recurring business service fees, which include amounts charged for ongoing collection
services billed to the customer as a percentage of practice collections on a monthly basis. Recurring business service fees may also include amounts charged to the customer for
patient statements and for other services for which reimbursement is based on a fixed fee per patient visit and recognized as revenue as the related services are performed.
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CareCloud Corporation
 

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Professional Services Fees
 
The Company has evaluated its Professional Services activities and estimated the expected customer benefit term for each activity in order to determine over what period to
recognize the revenue associated with each activity. Revenue from services that have stand-alone value and provide immediate, one-time value to the customer is recognized
upon completion. Revenue from services that do not have stand-alone value and provide continuous value to the customer, is recognized over the estimated expected life of the
customer relationship, which is four years.
 
The Company continues to evaluate the length of the amortization period of services that provide continuous value based upon its experience with customer contract renewals.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with a single financial institution and, at times, balances may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any
losses with such accounts and believes that it is not exposed to any significant credit risk in its cash balances.
 
Concentrations and Risk
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of demand deposit accounts, money market accounts, and trade
accounts receivable. The Company conducts business in the United States on a trade credit basis and does not require collateral of its customers. Allowances for potential credit
losses on customer accounts are maintained when deemed necessary based on the aging and analysis of the receivable.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenues. One customer accounted for 8.2% and 11.2% of accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
Fair Value
 
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the relatively short-term
maturities and are classified as short-term assets and liabilities in the accompanying balance sheets.
 
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of the debt on the accompanying balance sheets approximated its carrying value, net of discount.
 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
 
Management reviews accounts receivable periodically and provides allowances as necessary for accounts expected to become uncollectible. Amounts are written off only after
considerable collection efforts have been made and they are deemed uncollectable. Accounts receivable deemed uncollectible are charged against the allowance for doubtful
accounts when identified. The Company recognized $681,749 and $330,664 of bad debt expense, for years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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CareCloud Corporation
 

Notes to Financial Statements
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets
ranging from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease or the useful life of the assets, whichever is shorter.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements and betterments are capitalized. When assets are retired or disposed of, the cost and accumulated
depreciation and amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations in the period realized.
 
Software Development Costs
 
The Company capitalizes certain costs related to software obtained or developed for internal use in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification, “Intangibles –
Goodwill and Other – Internal-Use Software,” (“ASC 350”). Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an application has
reached the development stage, internal and external costs, if direct, are capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Capitalization
ceases upon completion of all substantial testing. The Company also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable that the expenditures
will result in additional functionality. Capitalized costs are recorded as part of intangible assets. Maintenance and training costs are expensed as incurred.
 
Internal use software is amortized on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life, generally three years. Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual
basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. Amortization expense related to software
development costs was $2,912,514 and $2,592,983 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Future amortization expense for all software development
costs capitalized as of December 31, 2019 is estimated to be $1,929,349, $1,079,321 and $1,304,784 for the years ending December 31, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively. The
balance of the software development costs has not yet been put into production and, therefore, are currently not being amortized. Amortization is calculated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life of the related asset, which is generally estimated to be three years unless the Company has determined a specific end of life.
 
Deferred Rent Obligations
 
Prior to January 1, 2019, the Company accounted for rent expense under operating leases for its office locations with scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term beginning with the effective lease commencement date. The excess of straight-line rent expense over scheduled payment amounts was recorded as deferred rent.
Deferred rent as of December 31, 2018 was $57,011 and was included in accrued expenses in the accompanying balance sheet. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted
Accounting Standards Codification, “Leases,” Topic 842 and subsequent amendments (“ASC 842”). This adoption is discussed in Recent Accounting Pronouncements below.
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Long-Lived Assets
 
The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be
recoverable based on expected undiscounted cash flows attributable to that asset. The amount of any impairment is measured as the difference between the carrying value and
the fair value of the impaired asset. No impairment loss was recorded for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 
Deferred Revenue
 
Deferred revenue primarily consists of payments received for Professional Services fees in advance of revenue recognition criteria being met. Deferred revenue that will be
recognized during the succeeding 12-month period is recorded as current deferred revenue and the remaining portion is recorded as noncurrent deferred revenue.
 
Accounting for Share-Based Compensation
 
Share-based payment transactions in which the Company receives employee services in exchange for equity instruments are accounted for under ASC 718, Compensation -
Stock Compensation. The Company uses the Black-Scholes Merton option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options granted to employees, and the grant date
fair market value of the common stock of the Company (the “Common Stock”) to determine the fair value of restricted stock awards granted. The Company recognizes the
resulting compensation expense on a straight-line basis in the accompanying statements of loss over the requisite service period of the employee.
 
Compensation expense calculated under ASC 718 relies on the value of the common stock as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors and assumptions such as
volatility, expected life, interest rates, and other factors to determine the fair value of share-based payments using the Black-Scholes Merton option pricing model. Changes in
the value of the common stock, the underlying assumptions in the calculations, the number of options granted or the terms of such options, the treatment of tax benefits and
other changes may result in significant differences in the amounts or timing of the compensation expense recognized. The Company utilizes the historical volatility of
representative public companies to determine implied volatility as there is no public trading of the common stock. Compensation expense is reduced for options that are not
expected to vest.
 
The Company accounts for stock issued to non-employees, in accordance with the provisions of ASC 505-50, Equity-Based Payment to Non-Employees. Share-based payments
to non-employees must be expensed based on the fair value of goods or services received, or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more evident. The
Company records this non-employee share-based compensation at fair value at each reporting period or until the earlier of (i) the date that performance by the counterparty is
complete or the date that the counterparty has committed to performance or (ii) the awards are fully vested.
 
Income Taxes
 
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740-10, Income Taxes, which requires the use of the asset and liability method in accounting for income taxes.
Under ASC 740-10, deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax
rates and laws that are expected to be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company analyzes whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets
will be realizable. Based on this analysis, the Company establishes a valuation allowance for amounts that are not expected to be realized.
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The Company follows the guidance included in ASC 740-10 regarding uncertainty in income taxes. The guidance establishes a recognition threshold and measurement for
income tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with accounting for income taxes. ASC 740-10 also prescribes a two-step evaluation
process for tax positions. The first step is recognition and the second step is measurement. For recognition, an enterprise judgmentally determines whether it is more-likely-than-
not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. If the tax
position meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, it is measured and recognized in the financial statements as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than
50% likely of being realized. If a tax position does not meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the benefit of the position is not recognized in the financial
statements.
 
Advertising Expenses
 
The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense was $181,343 and $486,362 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and are
included within selling and marketing expense.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
Leases
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The new standard requires organizations that have leased assets, referred to as “lessees,” to
recognize on the balance sheet the assets and liabilities that represent the rights and obligations created by those leases, respectively. Under the new guidance, a lessee is
required to recognize assets and liabilities for leases with lease terms of more than 12 months. Consistent with current GAAP, the recognition, measurement and presentation of
expenses and cash flows arising from a lease by a lessee primarily will depend on its classification as a finance or operating lease. However, unlike current GAAP which
requires only capital leases to be recognized on the balance sheet, the new ASU requires both types of leases to be recognized on the balance sheet. The FASB has subsequently
issued further ASU’s related to the standard providing additional practical expedients and an optional transition method allowing entities to not recast comparative periods. The
amendments in ASU No. 2016-02 are now effective.
 
The Company adopted the standard on January 1, 2019 using the optional transition adjustment method. As part of the adoption of ASC 842, the Company performed an
assessment of the impact of the new lease recognition standard has on the financial statements. All of the Company’s leases, which consist of facility and equipment leases,
have been classified as operating leases. The Company does not have any financing leases. The Company adopted the requirements of the new standard without restating the
prior periods. There was no impact to the accumulated deficit as of the date of adoption. For leases in place at the transition date, the Company adopted the package of practical
expedients that allows the Company to not reassess: (1) whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (2) lease classification for any expired or existing leases
and (3) initial direct costs for any expired or existing leases.
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The Company has also adopted the practical expedients that allow the Company to treat the lease and non-lease components of the leases as a single component for facility
leases. The Company elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. As such, for those leases that qualify, the Company did not recognize an
ROU asset or lease liabilities as part of the transition adjustment. As of January 1, 2019, the impact on the assets was approximately $3.75 million and the impact on the
liabilities was approximately $3.8 million. The adoption of ASC 842 did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations, stockholders’ deficiency, or cash
flows.
 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 
Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) is effective for nonpublic companies for fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2018 and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (with early adoption permitted for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and interim
periods therein). The standard permits either full retrospective adoption (applied to all fiscal years for financial statements presented) or modified retrospective adoption (applied
to all uncompleted contracts as of the adoption date with note disclosure of the comparative effect on financial statements in prior periods). The Company has elected to adopt
the standard as of January 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective method. Under this approach, no restatement of 2018 was required. Rather, the effect of the adoption was
recorded as a cumulative adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated deficit at January 1, 2019. The primary impact of adopting ASC 606 was to accelerate the timing of
revenue on certain medical billing services provided to customers. Beginning January 1, 2019, revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied over time on
revenue cycle management contracts.
 
As part of the adoption of ASC 606, the Company performed an assessment of the impact of the new revenue recognition standard has on the financial statements. The
Company analyzed its revenue streams using the five-step model detailed in ASC 606-10 to determine the recognition methodology for each revenue stream. Based on that
analysis, the Company determined that no change was necessary for its SaaS revenue streams. The Company also determined that professional services fees, which had been
recognized ratably over the life of a customer contract under legacy GAAP, will be recognized at the point in time when the consideration is probable, which occurs when the
installation is complete and the Subscription Services are up and running.
 
Also part of the adoption of ASC 606, the Company analyzed the costs incurred to obtain customer contracts. Under legacy GAAP, sales commissions were period expensed.
Under ASC 606, sales commissions, which represent incremental costs of obtaining a contract, are capitalized and amortized over the related contract period including expected
renewals. For uncompleted contracts as of January 1, 2019, the Company identified any associated sales commissions that have previously been expensed under legacy GAAP
and assessed the amounts that should be capitalized under ASC 606, as well as the new amortization schedule over the revenue recognition period. The cumulative effect of
capitalizing sales commissions as of the date of adoption was recorded in other assets in the accompanying balance sheet with a corresponding credit to accumulated deficit. The
capitalized sales commissions are being amortized over an expected 4-year contract period.
 
 15  



 
 

CareCloud Corporation
 

Notes to Financial Statements
 
4. Balance Sheet Components
 
Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment consists of the following:
 
December 31,  2019  2018 
Computer equipment  $ 1,722,746  $ 1,660,440 
Furniture and other equipment   95,425   572,676 
Purchase internal use software   556,245   75,295 
Leasehold improvements   261,736   261,736 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (2,261,819)   (2,036,734)
         
Property and equipment, net  $ 374,333  $ 533,413 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $295,683 and $357,922, respectively.
 
Accrued Expenses
 
Accrued expenses consist of the following:
 
December 31,  2019  2018 
Accrued commissions  $ 250,463  $ 422,705 
Compensation related accruals   1,142,457   589,501 
Deferred rent   -   57,011 
Accrued professional fees   225,146   163,333 
Sales tax payable   58,187   231,928 
Other   711,533   705,731 
         
Total  $ 2,387,786  $ 2,170,209 
 
5. Financing Arrangements
 
Wellington Financial and Silicon Valley Bank Loan and Security Agreement
 
 1) Wellington Financial
 

On August 24 2015, the Company executed a Loan and Security Agreements with Wellington Financial LP (“Wellington”, “Wellington LSA”) and Silicon Valley Bank
(“SVB”, “SVB LSA”).
 
In connection with the Wellington LSA, the Company entered into a Warrant Agreement with Wellington. The Wellington warrant agreement provides Wellington with
the right to purchase up to 286,223 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $3.1444, or, in the event that the Company raises subsequent equity
capital at an exercise price per share of less than $3.14444, a number of shares equal to $900,000 divided by the price per share of the subsequent financing. As the
Series C financing constituted such event, as of December 31, 2017, Wellington holds the right to purchase 747,819 shares of Series C Preferred Stock. The Warrant is
exercisable for a period ending upon the earlier to occur of (i) August 24, 2025, (ii) five years after an Initial Public Offering, or (iii) the sale of the Company.
 

 16  



 
 

CareCloud Corporation
 

Notes to Financial Statements
 
On the date the warrants were issued to Wellington, the Company valued the warrants using the Black Scholes option pricing model on the grant date, applying an
expected life of 10 years, risk-free interest rate of 2.01%, expected dividend yield of zero, volatility of 40.00% and a fair value for convertible preferred stock of $3.93
per share. This resulted in a total estimated fair value of $644,002, which was recorded as a component of other liabilities, and as a debt discount. The warrant liability
was adjusted to its fair value as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019 as discussed in Note 10.
 

 2) Silicon Valley Bank Loan
 
The SVB LSA provides for a revolving line of credit of up to an aggregate of $10,000,000. The revolving line of credit bears interest at a rate of 2.5% above the prime
rate, and interest payments are due monthly. In 2017, the Company extended the loan maturity date from its original maturity date of August 25, 2017 to July 31, 2018,
and subsequently extended to May 31, 2020. Loan commitment fees are being amortized as a component of interest expense. The Company’s outstanding balance under
the revolving line of credit was $7,000,000 as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. This amount was repaid in January 2020.
 
In connection with the SVB LSA, the Company entered into a warrant agreement with SVB. The warrant agreement provides SVB with the right to purchase up to
31,806 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $3.1444 per share. The warrants were exercisable for a period ending on August 24, 2019. The
Company valued the warrants using the Black Scholes option pricing model on the grant date, applying an expected life of 3 years for the SVB Warrant, risk-free
interest rate of 0.9%, expected dividend yield of zero, volatility of 40.00% and a fair value for convertible preferred stock of $3.93 per share. This resulted in a total
estimated fair value of $45,800 as of December 31, 2018 and it was reduced to zero as of December 31, 2019, which was recorded as a component of other liabilities,
and as a debt discount. The warrant liability was adjusted to its fair value as of December 31, 2018. At December 31, 2019 it was determined that the warrants had no
value. See Note 12.

 
Runway Growth Loan and Security Agreement
 
On June 21 2018, the Company executed a Loan and Security Agreements with Runway Growth Credit Fund Inc. (“Runway”, “Runway LSA”).
 
The Runway LSA provides for a term loan in an aggregate principal amount of up to $25,000,000. Borrowings under the Runway LSA bear a variable interest rate at the Prime
Rate plus 7.00% per annum. The term loan has a maturity date of June 21, 2023. The Runway LSA includes the requirement for the Company to comply with certain financial
covenants. This loan was repaid in January 2020.
 
In connection with the Runway LSA, the Company entered into a Warrant Agreement with Runway. The Runway warrant agreement provides Runway with the right to
purchase up to 1,557,955 shares of Series C Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $1.2035, or, in the event that the Company raises subsequent equity capital, at an exercise
price per share of 80% of the lowest effective sale price per share of the subsequent financing. The Warrant is exercisable for a period ending upon the earlier to occur of (i)
June 19, 2025, (ii) after an Initial Public Offering, or (iii) the sale of the Company.
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On the date the warrants were issued to Runway, the Company valued the warrants using the Black Scholes option pricing model on the grant date, applying an expected life of
2.5 years, risk-free interest rate of 2.47%, expected dividend yield of zero, volatility of 45.00% and a fair value for convertible preferred stock of $0.46492 per share. This
resulted in a total estimated fair value of $724,322 as of December 31, 2018, which was recorded as a component of other liabilities, and as a debt discount. The liability and the
related discount were written off at December 31, 2019, as the loan was repaid in full in January 2020 and the warrants were deemed to be of no value.
 
On June 21, 2018, and in conjunction with the execution of the Runway LSA, the Wellington LSA was terminated and $13,042,642 was repaid to Wellington, which
represented unpaid principal, accrued interest and termination fees.
 
Insurance Financing Agreement
 
On October 5, 2018, the Company executed an insurance finance agreement with Premium Assignment Corporation (“PAC”). The agreement financed $47,041 over a 10-month
period at 7.12% per annum, payable monthly.
 
On October 10, 2019, the Company executed a new insurance finance agreement with PAC. The agreement financed $48,025 over a 10-month period at 7.12% per annum,
payable monthly.
 
6. Series A Financing
 
On September 19, 2011, the Company closed a transaction for the sale and issuance of 12,303,076 shares of its Series A Preferred Stock (the “Series A”) at a price of
$1.634488 per share (“Series A Financing”). The Series A Financing involved the conversion of certain issued and outstanding Convertible Promissory Notes, which
represented at the time of such conversion and in the aggregate, a total principal balance plus unpaid accrued interest of $3,763,285, and the purchase of shares of Series A at
price of $1.634488 per share.
 
As part of the Series A Financing, the Company was reincorporated in the State of Delaware under the name “CareCloud Corporation”. The Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation as of the Series A Financing authorized the Company to issue up to 12,303,076 shares of Series A and 29,000,000 shares of Common Stock, both with par value
of $0.0001 per share.
 
The Company has reserved 9,332,476 shares of Common Stock for the conversion of Series A.
 
These preferred shares were converted to common stock in 2019 as discussed in Note 10.
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7. Series B Financing and Conversion of Convertible Promissory Notes
 
On June 13, 2013, the Company consummated the initial closing (the “Series B June Financing”) of the sale and issuance of shares of its Series B Preferred Stock (the “Series
B”), pursuant to which (i) 5,088,409 shares of Series B were sold and issued at a purchase price of $3.1444 per share and (ii) 1,604,941 shares of Series B were issued in
connection with the conversion of certain issued and outstanding Convertible Promissory Notes, which represented at the time of such conversion and in the aggregate, a total
principal amount plus unpaid accrued interest of $4,037,072 at a conversion price of $2.5155 per share.
 
On August 2, 2013, the Company consummated an additional closing (together with the Series B June Financing, the “Series B Financings”) pursuant to which an additional
2,957,773 shares of Series B were sold and issued at a purchase price of $3.1444 per share.
 
The Company has reserved 11,719,112 shares of Common Stock for the conversion of Series B.
 
These preferred shares were converted to common stock in 2019 as discussed in Note 10.
 
8. Series B-1 Financing
 
On April 15, 2015, (i) the holders of a majority of shares of the Company’s Series A and Series B (collectively the “Prior Preferred”), voting together as a separate class, and
(ii) the holders of at least sixty-seven percent (67%) of the total number of shares of the Company’s Series B, voting exclusively as a separate class, in each case acting by
written consent, caused the automatic conversion (the “Conversion”) of each share of the Prior Preferred then issued and outstanding into one fully paid and non-assessable
share of the Company’s Common Stock, which Conversion was effected as of immediately following the Company’s filing of its Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (the “Restated Charter”). Subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s Series B-1 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, parties that purchased shares of
the Series B-1 Preferred Stock (“Series B-1”) thereunder would have the right to exchange shares of the Common Stock issued upon conversion of the Prior Preferred for an
equal number of shares of the Prior Preferred (the “Exchange Offering”). Parties that elected not to purchase shares of the Company’s Series B-1 would forfeit the ability to
exchange shares of the Common Stock for shares of Prior Preferred.
 
On April 16, 2015, the Company consummated the initial closing (the “Initial Closing”) of its Series B-1 Preferred Stock financing (the “B-1 Financing”). At such Initial
Closing, certain investors purchased an aggregate of 4,874,364 shares of the Series B-1 of the Company, at $3.1444 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $15,326,950,
pursuant to a Series B-1 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 16, 2015 (the “Lead Investors”). In addition, the Lead Investors exchanged shares of the Prior
Preferred into shares of the applicable series of Prior Preferred at the Initial Closing, at a 1:1 share for share ratio.
 
On May 15, 2015, the Company and the Lead Investors entered into an Amendment to the Series B-1 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement in order to, among other things,
modify certain terms and conditions of the Agreement to lower the minimum threshold for purchasers of Series B-1 to be entitled to fully exercise their respective exchange
rights of Prior Preferred shares. On July 15, 2015, the Company consummated the second closing of its Series B-1 Preferred Stock financing (the “Second Closing”). At such
Second Closing, holders of Prior Preferred (other than Lead Investors), (collectively, the “Remaining Investors”) purchased an aggregate of 491,488 shares of the Series B-1, at
$3.1444 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $1,545,435, pursuant to the amended Series B-1 Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement. In addition, the Remaining
Investors exchanged shares of the Prior Preferred into shares of the applicable series of Prior Preferred at the Second Closing, at varying share ratios.
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The Company has reserved 13,673,932 shares of Common Stock for the conversion of Series B-1.
 
These preferred shares were converted to common stock in 2019 as discussed in Note 10.
 
9. Series C Financing and Conversion of Convertible Promissory Notes
 
Conversion of Convertible Promissory Notes
 
On March 28, 2016, the Company entered into Convertible Promissory Notes purchase agreements (the “Notes”) with certain existing shareholders in an aggregate amount of
$3,000,000. Interest on the Notes accrued at a rate of 5% per annum.
 
On April 18, 2016, the holders of a majority of shares of the Preferred Stock, voting together as a separate class and acting by written consent, caused the automatic conversion
(the “Series C Conversion”) of each share of the Preferred Stock then issued and outstanding (the “Series C Prior Preferred”) into one fully paid and non-assessable share of the
Common Stock, which Series C Conversion was effected as of immediately following the Company’s filing of its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
 
Series C Financing Initial Closing
 
On April 19, 2016, the Company consummated the initial closing (the “C Initial Closing”) of its Series C Preferred Stock financing (the “C Financing”). At such C Initial
Closing, certain investors (the “C Lead Investors”) purchased an aggregate of 12,473,203 shares of its Series C Preferred Stock (the “Series C”), at $1.2035 per share, for an
aggregate purchase price of $15,011,504 pursuant to a Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2016 (the “Series C Purchase Agreement”). In
conjunction with the C Initial Closing, 9,970,916 shares of Series C were issued for an aggregate cash consideration of $11,999,997 at a price of $1.2035 per share and
2,502,287 shares of Series C were issued in connection with the conversion of the outstanding Convertible Promissory Notes, which represented at the time of such conversion
and in the aggregate, a total principal amount plus unpaid accrued interest of $3,011,507 at a conversion price of $1.2035 per share. In addition, the Lead Investors exchanged
shares of Common Stock into shares of Prior Preferred Stock, in each case in series and amounts equal to such Lead Investor’s holdings of Prior Preferred, at the C Initial
Closing at a 1:1 share for share ratio.
 
Agreement to Adjust Conversion Price of A, B and B-1
 
In connection with the C Initial Closing, the Company and the C Lead Investors agreed to amend the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation solely for
the purpose of (A) adjusting, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation previously waived by the Company’s stockholders in connection
with the C Financing, the Series A Conversion Price, the Series B Conversion Price and the Series B-1 Conversion Price (each as defined in the Company’s Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation) and (B) deleting Article V, Division B, Section 5(i) from the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
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Series C Financing Subsequent Closing
 
In August 17, 2016, the Company consummated a subsequent closing of Series C in the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Series C Purchase Agreement (the “C
Second Closing”). At such C Second Closing, certain investors (the “Non-Lead Investors”) purchased an aggregate of 556,954 shares of Series C for an aggregate cash
consideration of $670,294 at a price of $1.2035 per share. In addition, the Non-Lead Investors exchanged shares of Common Stock into shares of Prior Preferred Stock, in each
case in series and amounts equal to such Non-Lead Investor’s holdings of Prior Preferred, at the C Second Closing at a 1:1 share for share ratio.
 
Series C and Series C-NV Financing
 
In October and November 2016, the Company consummated subsequent closings of Series C, with two separate class of stock, Series C, with voting rights, and Series C non-
voting (“Series C-NV”) with no voting rights, pursuant to the terms of the Series C and Series C-NV Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of August 31, 2016. The
investors purchased an aggregate of 9,345,460 shares of the Series C and an investor purchased 3,798,040 shares of Series C-NV, in each case at $1.2035 per share, for an
aggregate purchase price of $15,818,202. The Certification of Incorporation was amended on October 31, 2016, as discussed in note 12 below.
 
The Company has reserved 20,293,775 and 4,280,298 shares of Common Stock for the conversion of Series C and Series C-NV, respectively.
 
These preferred shares were converted to common stock in 2019 as discussed in Note 10.
 
The rights, privileges, and preferences of the Series A, Series B, Series B-1, Series C, and Series C-NV (collectively “Preferred Stock”) are as follows:
 
Dividends and Distributions
 
The holders of Preferred Stock are entitled to receive non-cumulative dividends at an annual rate of $0.13075904 per share of Series A, $0.2516 per share of Series B, $0.2516
per share of Series B-1, $0.0963 per share of Series C, and $0.0963 per share of Series C-NV (in each case as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock combinations,
reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like), when and as declared by the Board of Directors. The Company has declared no dividends to date.
 
Liquidation Rights
 
In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company:
 
 (i) first, the holders of the Series C and Series C-NV (collectively “Series C”) shall be entitled to receive, prior to any distribution to the holders of Series B-1, Series B, and

Series A (collectively, “Junior Preferred”) or the Common Stock, an amount equal to $2.1061 per share, (in each case as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends, stock
combinations, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like), plus all declared but unpaid dividends thereon (the “Senior Preference”);

   
 (ii) second, after the full Senior Preference is paid in full, the holders of Junior Preferred shall receive an amount equal to their respective original issue prices, as adjusted,

plus all declared but unpaid dividends thereon; and
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 (iii) finally, any remaining funds and assets of the Company legally available for distribution to stockholders shall be distributed pro rata among the holders of the Common

Stock and the Preferred Stock assuming, for such purpose, that the Preferred Stock shall have converted into Common Stock immediately prior to such distribution to
the holders of Common Stock, provided, however, that

 
 a. if the aggregate amount which the holders of the Series C shall be entitled to receive pursuant to the preceding clause (i) and this clause (iii) shall exceed

$4.2123 per share, as adjusted, (the “Maximum Series C Participation Amount”), then each holder of Series C shall be entitled to receive instead the greater of
the amount such holder would have received if all shares of the Series C had been converted into Common Stock or the Maximum Series C Participation
Amount, and

   
 b. if the aggregate amount which the holders of the Series B-1 Preferred shall be entitled to receive pursuant to the preceding clause (i) and this clause (iii) shall

exceed $11.0054 per share, as adjusted, (the “Maximum Series B-1 Participation Amount”), then each holder of Series B-1 Preferred Stock shall be entitled to
receive instead the greater of the amount such holder would have received if all shares of the Series B-1 Preferred had been converted into Common Stock or
the Maximum Series B-1 Participation Amount, and

   
 c. if the aggregate amount which the holders of the Series B Preferred shall be entitled to receive pursuant to the preceding clause (i) and this clause (iii) shall

exceed $11.0054 per share, as adjusted, (the “Maximum Series B Participation Amount”), then each holder of Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to
receive instead the greater of the amount such holder would have received if all shares of the Series B Preferred had been converted into Common Stock or the
Maximum Series B Participation Amount.

 
Voting Rights
 
The holders of Voting Preferred Stock are entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of Common Stock into which such shares Voting Preferred Stock could
be converted.
 
Conversion Rights
 
Each share of Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at the option of the holder thereof, at any time, into fully paid and non-assessable shares of Common Stock. The number of
shares of Common Stock into which each share of Series A may be converted shall be determined by dividing $1.634488, as adjusted, by the Series A Conversion Price in
effect on the date of conversion. The current Series A Conversion Price is $1.483. The number of shares of Common Stock into which each share of Series B or Series B-1 may
be converted shall be determined by dividing $3.1444, as adjusted, by the Series B Conversion Price or the Series B-1 Conversion Price in effect on the date of conversion. The
current Series B and Series B-1 Conversion Price is $0.963. The number of shares of Common Stock into which each share of Series C or Series C-NV may be converted shall
be determined by dividing $1.2035 as adjusted, by the Series C Conversion Price or the Series C-NV Conversion Price in effect on the date of conversion. The current Series C
and Series C-NV Conversion Price is $1.1743.
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Each share of Preferred Stock shall be converted into Common Stock automatically upon the earlier of (a) the closing of a firm commitment underwritten public offering from
which the Company received net proceeds of not less than $30,000,000, and where the offering price per share is at least $3.6105 (as adjusted for stock splits, stock dividends,
stock combinations, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like), or (b) the written approval of (i) the holders of a majority of shares of the Preferred Stock, voting together as
a separate class on an as-converted basis, (ii) the holders of at least a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series B and Series B-1, voting together as a separate class on an
as-converted basis, and (iii) a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series C and Series C-NV, voting together as a separate class.
 
The retirement and subsequent issuance of the prior preferred shares resulting from the exchange offering are shown on the accompanying statements of preferred stock and
stockholders’ deficit.
 
10. Series A-1 Financing, Conversion of Preferred Stock and Reverse Split
 
On April 17, 2019, the Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and then the Company’s shareholders elected to convert all outstanding Common
Stock consisting of 26,020,496 shares and all outstanding Preferred Stock, consisting of 7,250,388 shares of Series A, 8,820,113 shares of Series B, 3,976,719 shares of Series
B-1, 19,503,114 shares of Series C and 4,176,448 shares of Series C-NV into 78,579,349 shares of Class A Common Stock and 4,280,298 shares of Class B Common Stock,
based on the then effective conversion rate, (collectively, the “Conversion”). In connection with the Conversion, other than the Runway Warrant (as defined below), the exercise
rights of all outstanding warrants to purchase shares of Preferred Stock were converted into the right to purchase 2,536,163 Class A Common Shares consisting of Series A
warrant for 87,207 shares, Series B-1 warrant for 1,349,946 shares, Series C warrant for 799,010 shares (collectively, the “Warrant Conversion”).
 
Following the Conversion Certificate and the Warrant Conversion, the Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effectuate a 100:1 reverse stock
split of the outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock (the “Reverse Split”).
 
Additionally, on April 17, 2019, the Company conducted an initial closing of the sale and issuance of 29,958,162 shares of its Series A-1 Preferred Stock and 2,048,148 shares
of Series A-1 NV Preferred Stock (collectively the “Series A-1”) at a price of $1.0359 per share (“Series A-1 Financing”). The Series A-1 Financing involved the conversion of
certain issued and outstanding convertible promissory notes into Series A-1, which represented at the time of such conversion and in the aggregate, a total principal balance plus
accrued and unpaid interest of $27,383,414.
 
In addition, as part of the Series A-1 Financing, the Company amended and restated the warrant for Runway to purchase 2,262,579 shares of Series A-1 at an exercise price of
$0.8287 per share.
 
Following the Series A-1 Financing, the outstanding shares of the Company consists of 804,970 Class A Common shares, 23,283 Class B Common shares, 29,958,162 shares of
Series A-1 Preferred Stock and 2,048,148 shares of Series A-1-NV Preferred Stock.
 
The Current Certificate authorizes 42,129,926 shares of Preferred Stock (40,081,778 shares of Series A-1 Preferred Stock and 2,048,148 shares of Series A-1 NV Preferred
Stock) and 62,071,431 shares of Common Stock (60,000,000 shares of Class A Common and 2,071,431 shares of Class B Common), both with par value of $0.0001 per share.
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The Company has reserved 10,870,983 shares of Class A Common Stock for the 2011 Stock Plan, as amended.
 
11. Convertible Note Financing
 
On September 19, 2017 the Company entered into an Unsecured Subordinated Convertible Promissory Notes purchase agreement with various unrelated parties to issue notes
with the principal amount of $15,791,561. The notes accrue interest at a rate of 6% per annum. Unless converted, principal and accrued interest shall be due upon demand of
holders after the March 19, 2019 maturity date.
 
Under the provision of the agreement if the Company consummates a Qualified Equity Financing, prior to the maturity date, then all principal and all accrued but unpaid interest
under the Notes shall automatically convert into shares of the Company’s Preferred Stock at a price equal to the lesser of i) $1.2035 for Series C Preferred Stock or ii) 80% of
the effective sales price per share for Preferred Stock as paid by other shareholders of the Company. Qualified Equity Financing is defined as the subsequent issuance of the
notes of an equity financing in a single transaction or series of related transactions, yielding aggregate net cash proceeds to the Company of at least $15,000,000, excluding
conversion of any and all convertible bridge notes, including these notes.
 
If the Company does not consummate a Qualified Equity Financing prior to the maturity date, the notes shall be convertible at the option of the Majority Holders into Series C
Preferred Stock at $1.2035 per share.
 
For certain Prior Preferred Stockholders, the agreement caused the conversion of all their outstanding shares of Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock at the applicable
conversion prices. The retirement and subsequent issuance of the Prior Preferred shares resulting from the Exchange Offering are shown on the accompanying statements of
preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit.
 
In connection with the note financing, the Company and the note holders entered a Subordination Agreement providing collateral preference to the SVB LSA and Wellington
LSA.
 
On June 21, 2018, the Company entered into an Unsecured Subordinated Convertible Promissory Notes purchase agreement with various unrelated parties to issue notes with
the principal amount of $9,710,131. The notes accrue interest at a rate of 6% per annum. Unless converted, principal and accrued interest shall be due upon demand of holders
after the December 13, 2019 maturity date.
 
Under the provision of the agreement if the Company consummates in Qualified Financing, prior to the maturity date, then all principal and all accrued but unpaid interest under
the Notes shall automatically convert into shares of the Company’s Preferred Stock at a price equal to the lesser of i) $1.2035 for Series C Preferred Stock or ii) 80% of the
price paid per share for Preferred Stock by the investors in the Qualified Financing. Qualified Financing is defined as the subsequent sale of Preferred Stock from which the
Company receives net cash proceeds of at least $15,000,000.
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If the Company does not consummate a Qualified Financing prior to the maturity date, the notes shall be convertible at the option of the Majority Holders into shares of the
Company’s Preferred Stock at a price equal to the lesser of i) $1.2035 for Series C Preferred Stock or ii) 80% of the price paid per share for Preferred Stock by the investors in
the Non-Qualified Financing.
 
For certain Prior Preferred Stock holders, the agreement caused the conversion of all their outstanding shares of Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock at the applicable
conversion prices. The retirement and subsequent issuance of the Prior Preferred shares resulting from the Exchange Offering are shown on the accompanying statements of
preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit.
 
In connection with the note financing, the Company and the note holders entered a Subordination Agreement providing collateral preference to the Runway LSA and SVB
LSA.
 
12. Warrants
 
In conjunction with a loan and security agreement, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 79,125 shares of Series A at an exercise price of $1.64 per share to a financial
institution in July 2012. The warrant was outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2018 and expired on July 30, 2019.
 
In conjunction with another loan and security agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 413,433 shares of Series B-1 preferred stock. The warrants are exercisable
for a period ending upon the earlier to occur of (i) June 24, 2014, (ii) five years after an Initial Public Offering, or (iii) the closing of a cash or marketable securities merger. The
warrant liability was adjusted to its fair value as of December 2018. At December 31, 2019 it was determined that the warrants had no value.
 
As of the closing of the Series C financing, the Wellington warrant agreement issued in connection with the Wellington LSA, became, pursuant to its terms, exercisable for
747,819 shares of Series C Preferred Stock.
 
In conjunction with a Runway LSA, the Company issued a warrant to purchase 1,557,995 shares of Series C at an exercise price of $1.2035 per share to a Runway in June
2018. The Company valued the warrants using the Black Scholes option pricing model on the grant date, applying an expected life of 2.5 years for the warrant, risk-free interest
rate of 2.47%, expected dividend yield of zero, volatility of 45.00% and a fair value for convertible preferred stock of $0.4649 per share. This resulted in a total estimated fair
value of $724,322, which was recorded as a warrant liability and a debt discount as of December 31, 2018, and will be amortized to interest expense until June 30, 2021. This
warrant is outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2018 and expires on June 19, 2025.
 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company used the same fair market value for Series C warrants to revalue 747,819 Wellington Warrants also revalued the Hercules warrants
using the Black Scholes option pricing model, applying an expected life of 2.5 years, a risk-free interest rate of 2.47%, expected dividend yield of zero, volatility of 45% and a
fair value for convertible preferred stock of $0.25 per share. The fair value of the Wellington and Hercules warrants were estimated at $347,675 and $0, respectively. The
resulting gain of $206,814 was recorded in the Company’s statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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In addition, as part of a loan and security agreement, the Company converted 31,806 shares of SVB B-1 warrants from Series B-1 to Series C warrants. This conversion resulted
in a total estimated fair value of $14,787 as of December 31, 2018, which was recorded as a warrant liability and a debt discount, and will be amortized to interest expense until
June 30, 2021. This warrant is outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2018 and expires on June 19, 2025. The warrant was exercisable as of December 31, 2018 and
2019.
 
As of December 31, 2019, based on the subsequent event discussed in Note 20, the Company deemed the value of all Series C warrants to be $0. The resulting gain, net of the
debt discount written off, of $562,639 was recorded in the Company’s statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
13. Common Stock
 
Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share. The holders of Common Stock are also entitled to receive dividends whenever funds are legally available and
when declared by the Board of Directors, subject to the prior rights of holders of all other classes of stock outstanding. The Company issued shares of its Common Stock to
certain employees, directors, and consultants under restricted stock agreements that contain forfeiture provisions in the event the stockholder is no longer providing services to
the Company. The shares are generally released from forfeiture provisions ratably over four years.
 
On April 19, 2016, the Company amended its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in the form of an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in order
to, among other things, authorize the Company to issue up to 21,707,516 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, 6,745,865 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock, 10,048,655 shares
of Series B Preferred Stock, 12,371,467 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, all with par value of $.0001 per share.
 
On October 31, 2016, the Company amended its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in the form of an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in
order to, among other things, authorize the Company to issue up to 23,310,390 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, 6,231,823 shares of Series C-NV, 6,745,865 shares of Series
B-1 Preferred Stock, 10,048,655 shares of Series B Preferred Stock, 12,371,467 shares of Series A Preferred Stock, and 125,000,000 shares of Common Stock, all with a par
value of $.0001 per share. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation also adjusted the conversion price of the Series A, Series B and Series B-1, and consequently
the Series A Conversion Price was reduced to $1.483, the Series B Conversion Price was reduced to $2.464 and the Series B-1 Conversion Price was reduced to $0.2516.
 
On April 17, 2019, the Company filed an Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effectuate a 100:1 reverse stock split of the outstanding shares of Class A
Common Stock and Class B Common Stock (the “Reverse Split”).
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14. Common Stock Warrants
 
On May 25, 2017, in connection with a Joint Software Development agreement to jointly create a customized version of the Company’s software for use by the partner, the
Company issued the partner warrants, giving the partner the right to purchase up to 300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at $0.08 per share. The warrants vested
and are exercisable per the following schedule:
 
 a) 50,000 shares on June 30, 2017
 b) 50,000 shares on January 1, 2018
 c) 50,000 shares upon acceptance of the upgraded software platform by the partner
 d) 50,000 shares upon the partner’s first Go-Live on the upgraded platform
 e) 50,000 shares on the six-month anniversary of the first Go-Live
 f) 50,000 shares on the twelve-month anniversary of first Go-Live
 
Upon termination of any of Joint Software Development agreement for any reason, the vesting of unvested shares will immediately cease. As of December 31, 2019, based on
the subsequent event discussed in Note 20, the Company deemed the value of the Common Stock warrants to be $0. The resulting gain of $10,590 was recorded in the
Company’s statement of loss for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
15. Revenue
 
Introduction
 
The Company accounts for revenue in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which was adopted January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective
method. All revenue is recognized as our performance obligations are satisfied. A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to a
customer, and is the unit of account under ASC 606. Under the new standard, the Company recognizes revenue when the revenue cycle management services begin on the
medical billing claims, which is generally upon receipt of the claim from the provider.
 
For revenue cycle management services, the Company estimates the value of the consideration it will earn over the remaining contractual period as our services are provided and
recognizes the fees over the term; this estimation involves predicting the amounts our clients will ultimately collect associated with the services they provided. Certain
significant estimates, such as payment-to-charge ratios, effective billing rates and the estimated contractual payment periods are required to measure revenue cycle management
revenue under the new standard. The primary impact of adopting ASC 606 was to accelerate the timing of revenue on certain medical billing services provided to customers.
Beginning January 1, 2019 revenue is recognized over time as performance obligations are satisfied over time on revenue cycle management contracts. For subscription
services, revenue is recognized over time as the services are invoiced. Implementation and professional fees are recognized when the service has been performed and the
performance obligation is complete. The timing of the revenue recognition of our other revenue streams were not materially impacted by the adoption of ASC 606.
 
Most of the Company’s current contracts with customers contain a single performance obligation. For contracts where the Company provides multiple services, each service
represents its own performance obligation. Selling prices are based on the contractual price for the service.
 
The Company applies the portfolio approach as permitted by ASC 606 as a practical expedient to contracts with similar characteristics and we use estimates and assumptions
when accounting for those portfolios. The contracts generally include standard commercial payment terms, and have no significant obligations for refunds, warranties or similar
obligations and revenue does not include taxes collected from our customers.
 
Management has determined that the majority of fees associated with professional services do not have stand-alone value to the customer apart from the Company’s recurring
services. Accordingly, the Company records these one-time fees as deferred revenue.
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Disaggregation of Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 
The Company derives revenue from three primary sources based on the services offered: Concierge, SaaS and Professional services.
 
The following table represents a disaggregation of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019:
 
  December 31, 2019 
Concierge  $ 18,921,607 
SaaS solutions   12,964,825 
Professional services and other revenue   1,467,241 

Total  $ 33,353,673 
 
Concierge - Revenue cycle management services:
 
Revenue cycle management services are the recurring process of submitting and following up on claims with health insurance companies in order for the healthcare providers to
receive payment for the services they rendered. The Company typically invoices customers on a monthly basis based on the actual collections received by its customers and the
agreed-upon rate in the sales contract. The services include use of practice management software and related tools (on a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) basis), electronic health
records (on a SaaS basis), medical billing services and use of mobile health solutions. The Company considers the services to be one performance obligation since the promises
are not distinct in the context of the contract. The performance obligation consists of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same periodic
pattern of transfer to customers.
 
Payment terms are normally net 7 days. Although contracts typically have stated terms of one or more years, under ASC 606 the contracts are considered month-to-month and
accordingly, there is no financing component.
 
Under the Company’s Concierge solution, the Company derives revenue primarily from recurring business service fees, which include amounts charged for ongoing collection
services billed to the customer as a percentage of practice collections on a monthly basis. Recurring business service fees may also include amounts charged to the customer for
patient statements and for other services for which reimbursement is based on a fixed fee per patient visit and recognized as revenue as the related services are performed. For
the majority of revenue cycle management contracts, the total transaction price is variable because the obligation is to process an unknown quantity of claims, as and when
requested by customers over the contract period. When a contract includes variable consideration, the Company evaluates the estimate of the variable consideration to determine
whether the estimate needs to be constrained; therefore, variable consideration is included in the transaction price only to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal
of the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Estimates to determine
variable consideration such as payment to charge ratios, effective billing rates, and the estimated contractual payment periods are updated at each reporting date. Revenue is
recognized over the performance period using the input method.
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Central:
 
Central is a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) subscription service for healthcare practice management. The Company typically invoices customers on a monthly basis based on an
agreed-upon rate in the sales contract. The Company considers the services to be one performance obligation since the promises are not distinct in the context of the contract.
The performance obligation consists of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same periodic pattern of transfer to customers.
 
Payment terms are normally net 7 days. Although the contracts typically have stated terms of one or more years, under ASC 606 contracts are considered month-to-month and
accordingly, there is no financing component.
 
Under the Company’s Central solution, the Company derives revenue primarily from recurring business subscription fees. Recurring business subscription fees may also include
amounts charged to the customer for patient statements and for other services for which reimbursement is based on a fixed fee per patient visit and recognized as revenue as the
related services are performed.
 
Complete:
 
Complete is a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) subscription service that combines healthcare practice management with electronic health records. The Company typically invoices
customers on a monthly basis based on an agreed-upon rate in the sales contract. The Company considers the services to be one performance obligation since the promises are
not distinct in the context of the contract. The performance obligation consists of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same periodic pattern
of transfer to customers.
 
Payment terms are normally net 7 days. Although the contracts typically have stated terms of one or more years, under ASC 606 contracts are considered month-to-month and
accordingly, there is no financing component.
 
Under the Company’s Complete solution, the Company derives revenue primarily from recurring business subscription fees. Recurring business subscription fees may also
include amounts charged to the customer for patient statements and for other services for which reimbursement is based on a fixed fee per patient visit and recognized as
revenue as the related services are performed.
 
Breeze:
 
Breeze is a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) subscription service providing patient a registration and intake solution. The Company typically invoices customers on a monthly basis
based on an agreed-upon rate in the sales contract. The Company considers the services to be one performance obligation since the promises are not distinct in the context of the
contract. The performance obligation consists of a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same periodic pattern of transfer to customers.
 
Payment terms are normally net 7 days. Although the contracts typically have stated terms of one or more years, under ASC 606 contracts are considered month-to-month and
accordingly, there is no financing component.
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Under the Company’s Breeze solution, the Company derives revenue primarily from recurring business subscription fees. Recurring business subscription fees may also include
amounts charged to the customer for patient statements and for other services for which reimbursement is based on a fixed fee per patient visit and recognized as revenue as the
related services are performed.
 
Professional services:
 
These services include training, implementation, data conversion, data migration and ongoing support. The performance obligation consists of a series of distinct services that
are substantially the same and have the same periodic pattern of transfer to customers.
 
For all of the above revenue streams, revenue is recognized over time, which is typically one month or less, which closely matches the point in time that the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Company. Each service is substantially the same and has the same periodic pattern of transfer to the
customer. Each of the services provided above is considered a separate performance obligation.
 
Information about contract balances:
 
As of December 31, 2019, the estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to the remaining revenue cycle management performance obligations
outstanding was approximately $1.0 million. The Company expects to recognize substantially all of the revenue for the remaining performance obligations over the next three
months.
 
Amounts that the Company is entitled to collect under the applicable contract are recorded as accounts receivable. Invoicing is performed at the end of each month when the
services have been provided. The contract asset includes the right to payment for services already transferred to a customer when the right to payment is conditional on
something other than the passage of time. For example, contracts for revenue cycle management services where the Company recognizes revenue over time but does not have a
contractual right to payment until the customer receives payment of their claim from the insurance provider.
 
Changes in the contract asset are recorded as adjustments to net revenue. The changes primarily result from providing services to revenue cycle management customers that
result in additional consideration and are offset by the right to payment for services becoming unconditional and changes in the revenue accrued for the group purchasing
services. The opening and closing balances of the Company’s accounts receivable, contract asset and deferred revenue are as follows:
 

  
Accounts

receivable, net   

 
 

Contract Asset   
Deferred Revenue

(current)   

Deferred
Revenue

(long term)  
Balance as of January 1, 2019  $ 2,389,050  $ 1,011,000  $ 304,708  $             - 
Increase (decrease), net   539,308   1,550   (35,458)   - 
Balance as of December 31, 2019  $ 2,928,358  $ 1,012,550  $ 269,250  $ - 
 
Deferred commissions:
 
Our sales incentive plans include commissions payable to employees and third parties at the time of initial contract execution that are capitalized as incremental costs to obtain
a contract. The capitalized commissions are amortized over the period the related services are transferred. As the Company does not offer commissions on contract renewals, the
Company determined the amortization period to be the estimated client life, which is four years. Deferred commissions were approximately $713,000 at December 31, 2019,
and are included in the Other Assets lines in the balance sheet.
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16. Share-Based Compensation Plan
 
In September 2011, the Company adopted the CareCloud Corporation 2011 Stock Plan (the “Plan”), with an initial reserve of 2,450,000 shares. The Plan provides for the award
of incentive stock options to employees at an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair value at the grant date as determined by the Board of Directors. The Plan also
provides for the issuance of nonqualified stock options and restricted stock to employees, outside directors and consultants. Options granted generally have a maximum term of
ten years from grant date, are exercisable upon vesting and generally vest over a four-year requisite service period. Restricted stock awards may be granted in the form of either
a Restricted Stock Bonus or a Restricted Stock Purchase Right. Effective September 16, 2011 the Company terminated the Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the “Omnibus
Plan”). Options outstanding pursuant to the Omnibus Plan continue to be governed by the terms of the Omnibus Plan; however, no additional awards were made under the
Omnibus Plan. The number of shares authorized under the Plan were 11,492,933 as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019.
 
During 2018, the Company approved a voluntary stock option exchange program. This exchange program provided an opportunity for employees to exchange options with
exercise prices greater than $0.08 per share for new options with an exercise price of $0.06, the estimated fair market value of the common stock at October 31, 2017. Under
the plan, their old options were cancelled, and new options were granted with exercise price of $0.06. The incremental cost of approximately $24,000 was recorded in the
accompanying statements of loss during the year ended December 31, 2018.
 
A summary of the Company’s stock option and restricted stock activity under the Plan is as follows:
 
  Options and Restricted Stock Outstanding  

  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Per Share   

Weighted
Average Fair

Value  
Balance at January 1, 2018   8,270,277  $ 0.2775  $ 0.1090 
Granted   2,603,799   0.0600   0.0280 
Forfeited   (784,200)   0.1018   0.0445 
Cancelled   (279,723)   0.2702   0.1083 
Exercised   (86,057)   0.2071   0.0827 
             
Balance at December 31, 2018   9,724,096  $ 0.0770  $ 0.0871 
             
Granted   68,000   0.0600     
Forfeited   (568,310)   0.0727     
Cancelled   (26,521)   0.2744     
Exercised   (139,049)   0.0717     
             
Balance at April 16, 2019   9,058,216  $ 0.0774     
             
Balance at April 17, 2019 (After Reverse Split)   90,361  $ 7.738     
             
Granted   8,758,807  $ 0.0800     
Forfeited   (8,277)   7.2397     
Cancelled   (15,933)   12.7545     
Exercised   (4,437)   6.1128     
             
Balance at December 31, 2019   8,820,521  $ 0.1374     
Exercisable at December 31, 2019   38,420  $ 5.6836     
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A summary of the Company’s stock option activity under the Omnibus Plan is as follows:
 
  Options and Restricted Stock Outstanding  

  Number of Shares   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price Per

Share   

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Value  
Balance at December 31, 2017   255,188  $ 1.0504  $ 0.5007 
Cancelled   (34,000)   0.8780   0.4061 
             
Balance at December 31, 2018   221,188   0.6353  $ 0.5153 
             
Cancelled   (118,214)   0.8780  $ 0.5153 
             
Balance at April 16, 2019   102,974  $ 1.2957     
             
Balance at April 17, 2019 (After Reverse Split)   1,029  $ 129.57     
             
Cancelled   (50)   74.00     
             
Balance at December 31, 2019   979  $ 132.40     
Exercisable at December 31, 2019   979  $ 132.40     
 
The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and vested options at December 31, 2019 under the Omnibus Plan and the Plan:
 

Exercise Price   
Number of Outstanding

Options   
Weighted Average Remaining

Contractual Life (years)   Number of Options Vested  
$ 0.0800   8,751,081   9.31   - 
 6.0000   57,657   8.71   29,548 
 8.0000   9,153   7.30   6,383 
 16.0000   915   6.53   799 
 36.0000   1,125   5.74   1,104 
 62.0000   325   3.89   325 
 65.0000   265   5.14   265 
 132.4000   979   1.32   979 
               
     8,821,500       39,403 
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As of December 31, 2018, there was a total of $105,861 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options that is expected to be recognized over four years.
As of December 31, 2019, there was no unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options as they were deemed to be worthless.
 
The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and vested options at December 31, 2018 under the Omnibus Plan and the Plan:
 

Exercise Price   
Number of Outstanding

Options   
Weighted Average Remaining

Contractual Life (years)   Number of Options Vested  
$ 0.0600   7,655,279   9.45   5,476,156 
 0.0800   2,016,624   8.03   1,171,330 
 0.1600   191,832   7.06   123,739 
 0.3600   219,000   6.42   187,587 
 0.3700   5,000   4.31   5,000 
 0.6200   42,500   4.71   42,500 
 0.6500   34,000   6.14   32,026 
 0.7407   5,000   1.74   5,000 
 1.3240   97,974   2.32   97,974 
               
     10,267,209       7,141,312 
 
At December 31, 2019, the aggregate intrinsic value of currently exercisable and vested options was not significant. The weighted average remaining contractual term of those
options was 9.30 years. The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated as the difference between the exercise prices of the underlying stock option awards and the fair value of
common stock at December 31, 2019. The Common Stock had no value as of December 31, 2019.
 
The estimated grant date fair value of employee stock options was calculated using the Black-Scholes Merton option-pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions:
 
For the year ended December 31,  2019  2018 
Expected term of options   6.00-6.69 years   5.73-6.08 years 
Risk free interest rate   1.55%-2.56%  2.64%-2.98%
Dividends   0%  0%
Expected stock price volatility   40.80%-42.24%  40.47%-42.56%
 
The Company estimated the expected term using the simplified method as provided in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB), Topic 14D, which is available for awards that
qualify as “plain vanilla” awards and is allowed for nonpublic companies. The Company has never declared or paid cash dividends and does not intend to pay cash dividends in
the foreseeable future; thus, the Company used an expected dividend yield of zero percent. The risk-free rate was based on U.S. Treasury rates in effect at the date of grant. The
expected volatility was based on an average of the historical volatility of a representative peer group of public companies.
 
ASC 718 also requires the Company to estimate forfeitures at the time of grant, and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.
The Company used historical data to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and record stock compensation expense only for those awards that were expected to vest and
believes it has been able to develop reasonable expectations about future forfeiture patterns. The projected forfeiture rate for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December
31, 2019 was 24.7% and 4.7%, respectively. All stock-based payment awards are amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service periods of the awards, which are
generally the vesting periods. If the actual forfeiture rate is materially different from the estimate, the stock-based compensation expense could be significantly different from
the amounts recorded in the current period.
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Given the absence of an active market for the Common Stock, the fair value of the Common Stock at the grant date was derived from independent valuations. The Company
used the actual value of the Common Stock as of January 8, 2020, based on the acquisition of the Company discussed in Note 20.
 
There was no stock compensation in 2019. Total stock compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was allocated to the following expense categories:
 
Cost of revenue  $ 37,326 
General and administrative   131,815 
Research and development   45,659 
Selling and marketing   19,972 
Total  $ 234,772 
 
Stock compensation totaling $11,006 was capitalized by the Company as a component of its capitalized software development costs for the year ended December 31, 2018.
 
Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to non-employees is recognized as earned. At each reporting date, the Company revalues the stock-based
compensation using the Black-Scholes pricing model. As a result, stock-based compensation expense will fluctuate as the estimated fair market value of the Company’s
Common Stock fluctuates.
 
17. Leases
 
The Company leased office space in Miami, Florida. On June 27, 2019, the Company extended the lease until February 28, 2023. The lease requires the Company to pay
operating costs, including property taxes, normal maintenance and insurance.
 
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets, current operating lease liability
and noncurrent operating lease liability in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2019. The Company does not have any finance leases.
 
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising
from the lease. ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the estimated present value of the lease payments over the lease term.
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The Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rates, which are derived from information available at the lease commencement date, in determining the present value
of lease payments. For leases in existence at the adoption of ASC 842, the Company used the incremental borrowing rate as of January 1, 2019. The Company gave
consideration to bank financing arrangements, geographical location and collateralization of assets when calculating our incremental borrowing rates.
 
The lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Leases with a term of less than 12 months are not
recorded in the balance sheet. The lease agreements do not contain any residual value guarantees. For the Company’s real estate lease, it accounts for the lease and non-lease
components as a single lease component. Some leases include escalation clauses and termination options that are factored in the determination of the lease payments when
appropriate.
 
The Company leases an office facility and some equipment. Lease expense is included in cost of revenues and general and administrative expenses in the statements of loss
based on the nature of the expense. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 4 leases, with remaining terms ranging from more than 1 year to 3 years. The lease terms are
determined taking into account lease renewal options, and the Company’s anticipated operating plans.
 
The components of lease expense were as follows:
 

  
For the year ended 
December 31, 2019 

Operating lease cost  $ 1,064,274 
Short-term lease cost   23,497 
Variable lease cost   - 
 Total net lease cost  $ 1,087,771 
 
Short-term lease cost represents leases that were not capitalized as the lease term as of January 1, 2019 was less than 12 months. Variable lease costs include utilities, real estate
taxes and common area maintenance costs.
 
Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases was as follows:
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019    
Operating leases:     

Operating lease ROU assets  $ 2,930,353 
     
Current operating lease liabilities  $ 749,378 
Non-current operating lease liabilities   2,084,599 

Total operating lease liabilities  $ 2,833,977
     
Operating leases:     

ROU assets  $ 3,756,219 
Asset lease expense   (825,866)
Net ROU assets at December 31, 2019  $ 2,930,353 

     
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years):     

Operating leases   3.13 
Weighted average discount rate:     

Operating leases   7.24%
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Maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:
 
  December 31, 2019 
    
2020  $ 898,351 
2021   1,046,331 
2022   1,055,963 
2023   179,439 
Total minimum lease payments   3,180,084 

Less: interest   (346,107)
Total lease obligations   2,833,977 

Less: current obligations   (749,378)
Long-term obligations  $ 2,084,599 
 
Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases was as follows:
 
For the year ended December 31, 2019    
    
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:     

Operating cash flows from operating leases  $ 1,217,300 
     
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities:     

Operating leases  $ 6,875 
 
As of December 31, 2019, we have no additional operating lease commitments that have not yet commenced.
 
Disclosures related to periods prior to adoption of ASC 842:
 
Operating lease rent expense was approximately $612,024 for the year ended December 31, 2018. Month-to-month leases and cancellable leases were not included in the table
below. Certain leases are maintained on a month to month basis, if applicable. As of December 31, 2018, future lease payment obligations under non-cancellable operating
leases were as follows:
 
Years ending December 31,    
    
2019  $ 736,410 
2020   42,580 
2021   10,500 
     
Total minimum lease payments  $ 789,490 
 
18. Commitments and Contingencies
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had various purchase commitments under service contracts that will be paid within the next three years. The Company expenses the
costs of the services in the period in which they are incurred.
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We maintain operating leases for property and office equipment.
 
The following table presents certain payments due by the Company under our long-term contractual obligations with minimum firm commitments as of December 31, 2019:
 
   Year Ending December 31, ,  

   2020   2021   2022   2023   Total  
Leases   $ 898,351  $ 1,046,331  $ 1,055,963  $ 179,439  $ 3,180,084 
 
The Company is a party to legal proceedings, investigations, and claims in the ordinary course of its business. The Company records accruals for outstanding legal matters when
it believes it is probable that a loss will be incurred, and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The Company evaluates, along with legal counsel, developments in legal
matters that could affect the amount of any accrual and developments that would make a loss contingency both probably and reasonably estimable. If a loss contingency is not
both probable and estimable, the Company does not establish an accrued liability.
 
Certain elements of the Company’s software and related business are currently subject to a civil investigation initiated in 2018 by the U.S. Attorney’s Office’s for the Southern
District of Florida (“USAO”) to determine compliance with certain federal regulatory requirements. To date, the Company has complied with all document and information
requests related to this matter, and these productions are currently being reviewed by the USAO. The Company will continue to cooperate with the inquiry as it has historically
done.
 
While any investigation involves an element of uncertainty, in the opinion of management, liabilities, if any, arising from currently pending investigation are not expected to
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations; therefore, the Company did not establish an accrued liability.
 
19. Income Taxes
 
The Company’s income tax provision consisted of the following:
 
December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Current:         

Federal  $ -  $ - 
State   15,528   13,573 

         
Total current expense   15,528   13,573 
         
Deferred:         

Federal   (5,037,911)   (5,864,442)
State   (633,548)   (1,999,455)

         
Total deferred income tax benefit   (5,671,459)   (7,863,897)
         
Less valuation allowance   (5,671,459)   (7,863,897)
         
Total net income tax expense  $ 15,528  $ 13,573 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:
 
December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Deferred income tax assets:         

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 42,183,362  $ 37,148,970 
Research and development credit   2,494,529   1,947,317 
Depreciation and amortization   491,134   501,169 
Deferred revenue   71,523   814,918 
Interest expense carryforward   2,254,242   1,300,692 
Accrued expenses   12,717   68,258 
Allowance for bad debts   265,918   283,150 
Other expenses   13,406   50,900 

         
Gross deferred tax assets   47,786,831   42,115,374 
         
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets   (47,786,831)   (42,115,374)
         
Net deferred tax asset  $ -  $ - 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income.
 
Further, the Company has considered all available positive and negative evidence in determining the need for a valuation allowance. It has incurred cumulative losses for the
past three years. Therefore, the Company has significant negative evidence. In order to overcome the significant negative evidence, the Company needs to provide objective,
significant positive evidence.
 
Currently, there are no tax planning strategies that generate significant taxable income to utilize losses. There are no significant reversing temporary differences expected to
produce taxable income. The Company projects book losses for the next two to three years. Based on the weight of all available evidence, the Company believes a full valuation
allowance is appropriate for 2019 and 2018.
 
The Company has no Federal income tax expense or benefit for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company has State income tax expense of $15,528 and
$13,573 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. A reconciliation of the federal statutory tax rate with the effective tax rate from operations is as follows:
 
December 31,  2019  2018 
       
Tax at federal statutory rate  $ (4,439,413)  $ (5,511,560)
Current state taxes, net of federal benefit   12,267   10,723 
Permanent differences   (55,019)   171,240 
Other   (540,216)   (858,495)
Deferred state taxes, net of federal benefit   (633,548)   (1,579,569)
Change in valuation allowance   5,671,457   7,781,234 
         
Income tax expense  $ 15,528  $ 13,573 
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As of December 31, 2019, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $155 million, and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$152 million. The net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2030. Federal net operating losses generated after December 31, 2017 have an indefinite life and do
not expire. In addition, as of December 31, 2018 as a result of tax reform legislation, the Company has a Sec. 163(j) interest expense carryforward of $4.8 million which has an
indefinite life.
 
Also, as a result of the recent tax reform legislation, the Company was required in 2018 to revalue its deferred inventory at the enacted rate, reducing the pre-valuation
allowance net deferred tax asset by approximately $15 million. The tax expense of this re-measurement of deferred tax assets is offset by an equal and offsetting decrease to the
valuation allowance.
 
Utilization of the net operating loss carry forwards and credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and credits before utilization.
 
The Company complies with provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s guidance on accounting for uncertainty in income taxes. The Company does not have
any material unrecognized tax positions as of December 31, 2019 or 2018. No interest or penalties have been recorded as a result of tax uncertainties. In the event that the
Company was to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions, it would be recognized in the financial statements as income tax expense.
 
The Company files income tax returns in various states. The Company is subject to examination by federal tax authorities for the years ended after December 31, 2015, and state
tax authorities for the years ended after December 31, 2014.
 
20. Subsequent Event
 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through March 20, 2020, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
 
On January 8, 2020, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with MTBC, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MTBC”), MTBC
Merger Sub, Inc. (“Merger Sub”), a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of MTBC, and Runway Growth Credit Fund Inc. (“Runway”), solely in its capacity as a
seller representative, pursuant to which Merger Sub merged with and into the Company, with the Company surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of the MTBC. The Merger
became effective simultaneously with the execution of the Merger Agreement. The Company was the surviving corporation of the Merger and became a wholly owned
subsidiary of MTBC.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
We prepared the following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements based on the historical consolidated financial statements of MTBC, Inc. (“MTBC”)
as adjusted to give effect to the following transactions (the “Transactions”):
 
 ● Our acquisition of CareCloud Corporation (“CareCloud”), which consists of all of the assets and liabilities of CareCloud with an effective date of January 8, 2020, and
 ● Our acquisition of Etransmedia Technology, Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries, (“ETM”), which consist of substantially all of the assets and the assumption of

certain liabilities of ETM with an effective date of April 1, 2019.
 
CareCloud and ETM are collectively referred to as the “Acquired Businesses.”
 
The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 give effect to the transactions as if each of them had occurred on
January 1, 2019. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 gives effect to the acquisition of CareCloud as if it had occurred on
December 31, 2019.
 
The pro forma condensed combined statements of operations include adjustments for our acquisitions under Article 11 of Regulation S-X. The results of the transactions are
shown for the periods prior to their acquisition by MTBC.
 
We determined that the CareCloud and ETM transactions each involved the acquisition of a business, and considering the guidance in Rule 11-01(d) of Regulation S-X, met the
significance test of Rule 8-04 of Regulation S-X.
 
The CareCloud audited financial statements as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and for the years then ended, appear elsewhere in this Form 8-K/A.
 
We have based the pro forma adjustments upon available information and certain assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. We describe in greater
detail the assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments in the accompanying notes, which you should read in conjunction with these unaudited pro forma condensed
combined financial statements. In many cases, we based these assumptions on estimates. The actual adjustments to our audited consolidated financial statements will depend
upon a number of factors. Accordingly, the actual adjustments that will appear in our consolidated financial statements will differ from these pro forma adjustments, and those
differences may be material.
 
We account for our acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations under generally accepted accounting principles used in the United States
(“GAAP”), with MTBC being considered the acquiring entity. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total consideration paid is allocated to an acquired company’s
tangible and intangible assets, net of liabilities, based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date.
 
We provide these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements for informational purposes only. These unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
statements do not purport to represent what our results of operations or financial condition would have been had the transactions actually occurred on the assumed dates, nor do
they purport to project our consolidated results of operations or financial condition for any future period or future date.
 

 



 
 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
 

  MTBC   

January 1,
2019 to

Mar 31, 2019
ETM   

MTBC + 
Previously
Acquired
Subtotal   CareCloud   

Pro Forma
Adjustments     

Pro Forma
Combined  

  (in thousands, except per share data)  
Net revenue  $ 64,439  $ 2,067  $ 66,506  $ 33,354  $ -    $ 99,860 
Operating expenses:                           

Direct operating costs   41,186   2,716   43,902   21,169   -     65,071 
Selling and marketing   1,522   -   1,522   6,782   -     8,304 
General and administrative   17,912   1,141   19,053   6,501   (732)  (1)   24,822 
Research and development   871   -   871   13,733   -     14,604 
Change in contingent consideration   (344)   -   (344)   -   -     (344)
Depreciation and amortization   3,006   20   3,026   3,208   1,219  (2)   7,453 
Restructuring and impairment charges   219   -   219   -   -     219 

Total operating expenses   64,372   3,877   68,249   51,394   487     120,129 
                           

Operating income (loss)   67   (1,810)   (1,743)   (18,040)   (487)     (20,269)
                           

Interest expense - net   (121)   -   (121)   (4,212)   4,212  (3)   (121)
Other expense - net   (626)   -   (626)   558   -     (68)

(Loss) income before income taxes   (680)   (1,810)   (2,490)   (21,694)   3,725     (20,458)
Income tax provision   193   2   194   16   -  (4)   210 

Net (loss) income  $ (872)  $ (1,812)  $ (2,684)  $ (21,709)  $ 3,725    $ (20,668)
                           

Preferred stock dividend   6,386   -   6,386   -   2,090  (3)   8,476 
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders  $ (7,258)  $ (1,812)  $ (9,070)  $ (21,709)  $ 1,635    $ (29,144)
                           
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:                           
Basic and diluted   12,088                     12,088 
Loss per share:                           
Basic and diluted  $ (0.60)                    $ (2.41)
 

 



 
 
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2019
 

  MTBC   CareCloud   

Acquisition
Related Pro

Forma
Adjustments     

Pro Forma
Results  

  (in thousands)  
Cash  $ 19,994  $ 808  $ (12,661)  (6)  $ 8,141 
Accounts receivable - net   6,995   2,928   (560)  (6)   9,363 
Contract asset   2,385   1,013   -     3,398 
Inventory   491   -   -     491 
Current assets - related party   13   -   -     13 
Other current assets   1,123   1,321   -     2,444 

Current assets   31,001   6,070   (13,221)     23,850 
Property and equipment - net   2,908   374   29  (6)   3,311 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   3,526   2,930   (71)  (6)   6,385 
Intangible assets - net   5,977   7,472   8,928  (5)   22,377 
Goodwill   12,634   -   19,661  (5)   32,295 
Other assets   357   540   -     897 

Total assets  $ 56,403  $ 17,386  $ 15,326    $ 89,115 

                   
Accounts payable  $ 3,491  $ 6,943  $ -    $ 10,434 
Accrued compensation   1,836   -   -     1,836 
Accrued expenses   2,111   2,388   (127)  (6)   4,372 
Operating lease liability (current portion)   1,689   749   77  (6)   2,515 
Deferred revenue   20   269   -     289 
Accrued liability to related parties   1   -   -     1 
Notes payable - other (current portion)   284   7,080   (7,000)  (6)   364 
Contingent consideration   -   -   1,000  (6)   1,000 
Dividend payable   1,746   -   -     1,746 

Total current liabilities   11,178   17,429   (6,050)     22,557 
Notes payable - other   83   24,708   (24,708)  (6)   83 
Operating lease liability   2,041   2,085   (52)  (6)   4,074 
Deferred revenue   18   -   -     18 
Deferred tax liability   245   -   -     245 

Total liabilities   13,565   44,222   (30,810)     26,977 
Preferred stock   3   -   1  (6)   4 
Common stock   13   144,026   (144,026)  (6)   13 
Additional paid-in capital   69,403   -   19,299  (6)   88,702 
Accumulated deficit   (25,076)   (170,862)   170,862  (6)   (25,076)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (843)   -   -     (843)
Common shares held in treasury   (662)   -   -     (662)
Total shareholders’ equity (deficiency)   42,838   (26,836)   46,136     62,138 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity (deficiency)  $ 56,403  $ 17,386  $ 15,326    $ 89,115 
 

 



 
 
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
CareCloud Corporation (“CareCloud”) was incorporated in the State of Florida on January 5, 2009. On September 19, 2011, CareCloud was reincorporated in the State of
Delaware. On January 8, 2020, MTBC, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company” or “MTBC”) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”)
with CareCloud, MTBC Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”) and Runway Growth Credit Fund Inc.
(“Runway”), solely in its capacity as a seller representative, pursuant to which Merger Sub merged with and into CareCloud (the “Merger”), with CareCloud surviving as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Merger became effective simultaneously with the execution of the Merger Agreement. CareCloud was the surviving corporation
of the Merger and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
 
The total consideration for the Merger paid at closing was $11.9 million in cash, the assumption of a working capital deficiency of approximately $5.1 million and 760,000
shares of the Company’s Preferred Stock. The Merger Agreement provides that if CareCloud’s 2020 revenues exceed $36 million, there will be an earn-out payment to the seller
equal to such excess, up to $3 million. Additional consideration included warrants to purchase 2,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, 1,000,000 of which have an
exercise price per share of $7.50 and a term of two years, and the other 1,000,000 warrants have an exercise price per share of $10.00 and a term of three years.
 
In April 2019, MTBC-Med, Inc., (“MED”) a newly-created Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement
(“APA”) with FHI to acquire substantially all of the assets of Etransmedia Technology, Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries, (“ETM”). The agreement for sale was signed on
April 3, 2019, with the transaction being effective as of April 1, 2019. Pursuant to the APA and subject to the conditions set forth therein, MED paid $1.6 million in cash and
assumed certain liabilities in connection with the acquisition.
 
The audited 2018 and 2019 financial statements of CareCloud were prepared under GAAP. Revenue recognition and the accounting for leases was determined under ASC 606
and ASC 842, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
NOTES:
 
(1) Expenses Directly Attributable to the Transactions  — The following are non-recurring transaction expenses for professional and other fees incurred by the Company

during the year ended December 31, 2019 associated with the Transactions. Such expenses were not considered in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
Non-recurring transaction expenses associated with the Acquired Businesses

 

  MTBC   ETM   CareCloud   
Pro Forma

Adjustments  
  (in thousands)  
Year ended December 31, 2019  $ 337  $ -  $ 395  $ 732 
 

(2) Amortization of Purchased Intangible Assets — We amortize intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. We based the estimated useful lives of acquired intangible
assets on the amount and timing in which we expect to receive an economic benefit. We typically assign these intangible assets a useful life of between 3-4 years based upon
a number of factors, including contractual agreements and economic factors pertaining to the combined companies.

  
 The estimates of fair value and weighted-average useful lives could be impacted by a variety of factors including legal, regulatory, contractual, competitive, economic or

other factors. Increased knowledge about these factors could result in a change to the estimated fair value of these intangible assets and/or the weighted-average useful lives
from what we have assumed in these unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements. In addition, the combined effect of any such changes could result in a
significant increase or decrease to the related amortization expense estimates.

  
 The amortization of intangible assets of our acquisitions, shown below, assumes that the assets were acquired on January 1, 2019.

 
 



 
 

Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2019
 

  ETM   CareCloud   Total Expense  
  (in thousands)  
Pro forma amortization expense/adjustment for the period prior to acquisition  $ 70  $ 4,065  $ 4,135 
As recorded in the historical financial statements   3   2,913   2,916 

Pro forma adjustment  $ 67  $ 1,152  $ 1,219 
 
There was no adjustment for depreciation or amortization not related to purchased intangible assets.
 

(3) Interest and Dividends — The interest expense incurred by CareCloud of approximately $4.2 million for the year 2019 has been eliminated to reflect the full payment of
CareCloud’s outstanding debt balance as of the acquisition date. Dividends of approximately $2.1 million have been included as an adjustment to reflect the amounts that
would have been recorded as a result of the issuance of the Company’s Preferred Stock as part of the consideration for the acquisition.

  
(4) Benefit for Income Tax —  The income tax effects reflected in the pro forma adjustments are based on an estimated Federal statutory rate of 21% for the year ended

December 31, 2019. We did not record a benefit for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2019, in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations since the Company has a valuation allowance recorded against its Federal and state deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2019.

  
(5) Intangible Assets — We based our estimates of each intangible asset type/category that we expect to recognize as part of the CareCloud acquisition on the nature of the

business and the fair value of contracts that we have entered into with the sellers. We based our estimates on experiences from our prior acquisitions and the types of
intangible assets that we recognized as part of those acquisitions. In particular, our experience with our prior acquisitions indicates that customer contracts and customer
relationships compose the significant majority of intangible assets for these types of businesses. We based the estimated useful lives of these intangible assets on the useful
lives that we have experienced for similar intangible assets in prior acquisitions and on the nature of the assets.

 
The amounts set forth below reflect the fair value of the intangible assets of CareCloud that we acquired, and their estimated useful lives.
 
Intangible Assets of CareCloud

 
     Estimated useful life

  (in thousands)    
Customer relationships  $ 8,900  4 years
Trademark   1,500  3 years
Software   6,000  3 years *
Goodwill   19,661   

Total intangible assets  $ 36,061   
 

* Amortization will begin when each project is substantially complete and ready for its intended use.
 
(6) Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation — We recognize the assets and liabilities acquired at their fair value on the acquisition date, and if there is any excess in purchase

price over these values, it is allocated to goodwill.
 
For the CareCloud acquisition, management has made a fair value estimate of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of January 8, 2020. Our model includes
assumptions such as revenue growth rates, profitability rates, attrition rates and weighted average costs of capital, where applicable.
 
The acquisition of CareCloud includes the transfer of all customer relationships and agreements, accounts receivable, property and equipment and the assumption of all trade
liabilities. We determined the fair value of the property and equipment acquired by reference to current market prices for such assets, and the value of the assumed liabilities
were already stated at fair value or were contractually specified. An adjustment of $29,000 was required to adjust the property and equipment to fair value. The fair value of
the accounts receivable was determined based on the subsequent collections and the customers’ payment history.
 
Included in the purchase price allocation are amounts for customer relationships determined by the Company using the multi-period excess earnings approach which was
utilized in previous acquisitions.
 

 



 
 

If CareCloud’s 2020 revenues exceed $36 million, there will be an earn-out payment to the seller equal to such excess, up to $3 million. The preliminary estimate for the
contingent consideration is $1 million and has been included in the purchase price below. Once the contingent consideration amount is finalized, it will be adjusted to fair
value at the end of the each reporting period with the change being recorded in earnings.
 
The Company has engaged a third-party valuation specialist to assist in determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired in the CareCloud acquisition. The
allocations of the purchase price for the CareCloud acquisition are preliminary and are subject to revision and will be adjusted in future filings. The final purchase price will
be determined when the third-party valuation specialist and the Company have completed the detailed valuations and necessary calculations.
 
The following table shows the preliminary purchase price allocation and the estimated fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2019, the date of
our most recent consolidated balance sheet.
 
Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

 
  CareCloud  
  (in thousands)  
Cash  $ 11,853 
Preferred shares   19,000 
Warrants   300 
Contingent consideration   1,000 
Total purchase price  $ 32,153 
     
Accounts receivable  $ 2,368 
Prepaid expenses   997 
Contract asset   1,013 
Other current assets   324 
Property and equipment   403 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,859 
Customer relationships   8,900 
Trademark   1,500 
Software   6,000 
Goodwill   19,661 
Other long term assets   540 
Accounts payable   (6,943)
Accrued expenses   (2,261)
Current loan payable   (80)
Operating lease liability   (2,859)
Deferred revenue   (269)
Total preliminary purchase price allocation  $ 32,153 
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Supplemental Information

 
For CareCloud and ETM, we identified revenue from customers who cancelled their contracts prior to MTBC’s acquisition of such customers’ contracts. Such revenue is
included in the pro forma condensed combined statement of operations, even though MTBC will not generate revenues from those customers.
 
Estimated revenue from customers who cancelled prior to our acquisition
 
  ETM   CareCloud   Total  
  (in thousands)  
Year ended December 31, 2019  $ 213  $ 754  $ 967 

 
To provide investors with additional insight and allow for a more comprehensive understanding of the information used by management in its financial and operational
decision-making surrounding pro forma operations, we supplement our condensed combined financial statements presented on a basis consistent with GAAP, with adjusted
EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure of earnings. Adjusted EBITDA represents the sum of GAAP net income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes, net
interest expense, other expense (income), stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, integration and transaction costs, restructuring and impairment
charges and changes in contingent consideration. Our management uses adjusted EBITDA as a financial measure to evaluate the profitability and efficiency of our business
model. We use this non-GAAP financial measure to assess the strength of the underlying operations of our business. These adjustments, and the non-GAAP financial measure
that is derived from them, provide supplemental information to analyze our operations between periods and over time. We find this especially useful when reviewing pro forma
results of operations which include large non-cash amortization of intangibles assets from acquisitions. Investors should consider this non-GAAP financial measure in addition
to, and not as a substitute for, financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP.

 
The following tables contain a reconciliation of GAAP net loss to adjusted EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2019:

 
Reconciliation of GAAP net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2019 to Adjusted EBITDA
($000)
 

  MTBC   ETM   

MTBC +
Previously
Acquired
Subtotal   CareCloud   

Pro Forma
Adjustments   

Pro Forma
Combined  

  (in thousands)  
Net revenue  $ 64,439  $ 2,067  $ 66,506  $ 33,354  $ -  $ 99,860 
                         
GAAP net loss  $ (872)  $ (1,812)  $ (2,684)  $ (21,709)  $ 3,725  $ (20,668)
                         

Provision for income taxes   193   2   195   16   -   211 
Net interest expense   121   -   121   4,212   (4,212)   121 
Foreign exchange / other expense   827   -   827   -   -   827 
Stock-based compensation expense   3,215   -   3,215   -   -   3,215 
Depreciation and amortization   3,006   20   3,026   3,208   1,219   7,453 
Integration and transaction costs (1)   1,736   -   1,736   -   (732)   1,004 
Restructuring and impairment charges (2)   219   -   219   -   -   219 
Change in contingent consideration   (344)   -   (344)   -   -   (344)

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 8,101  $ (1,790)  $ 6,311  $ (14,273)  $ -  $ (7,962)
 

(1) The integration and transactions costs for MTBC include severance amounts paid to employees from acquired businesses, transactions costs, such as brokerage fees, pre-
acquisition accounting costs and legal fees and exit costs related to contractual agreements.

(2) The restructuring charges represent the remaining lease costs for a facility no longer used by the Company as the employees were transferred to another Company facility.
Impairment charges represent charges recorded for a leased facility no longer being used by the Company.
 

 

 


